

0040-4020(94)00497-8

TETRAHEDRON REPORT NUMBER 357

Some Aspects of Biocatalysis in Organic Solvents

Lise Kvittingen Department of Chemistry, University of Trondheim, 7055 Dragvoll, Norway

Contents

1.	Introduction	8253
2.	General Aspects of Biocatalysis in Organic Solvents	8257
3.	Effect of Water in Biocatalysis in Organic Solvents	8259
	3.1. Effect of water on the biocatalyst	8259
	3.2. Effect of water on the hydrolytic equilibrium	8261
	3.3. Effect of water on the kinetics	8261
	3.4. How to control water activity (a_w)	8262
	3.5. Limitations to the use of salt hydrates	8263
4.	Effect of Organic Solvents in Biocatalysis in Organic Solvents	8264
	4.1. General	8264
	4.2. Effect of organic solvent on the biocatalyst	8264
	4.3. Effect of organic solvent on the equilibrium position	8267
	4.4. Effect of organic solvent on the kinetics	8268
5.	Concluding Remarks	8271

1. INTRODUCTION

Enzyme catalysis in non-aqueous systems is now quite usual, although some decades ago it seemed exceptional. Considering the lipophilic environment in parts of the cell, e.g. membranes, it should not be so surprising that enzymes can work in non-aqueous media. Growth in fuels and oils is also well-known and costs society considerable amounts each year. These fuel systems can be characterized as two-liquid-phase systems and in many instances they approach low water systems.

Biocatalytic reactions have been performed by mankind in the fermentation of sugar to beer by the Sumerians from 7000 B.C.¹ Fermentation processes have been utilized in most civilizations since. As early as 1898 the reverse action of yeast extract was demonstrated in the synthesis of maltose from glucose.² Two years later the reversibility of lipase action on ethyl butanoate was demonstrated. The lipase was extracted from pig pancreas.³ Around 1920, alcohols were used as media in the synthesis of alkyl glucosides from glucose and the corresponding alcohol. The reaction was catalysed by extracts from almonds.^{4,5} Further, in the 50's even diethyl ether has been used as a reaction medium in enzymatic degradation of phosphatidyl cholin, catalysed by phospholipase A present in commercial pancreatin.⁶

In 1958 a continuous two-phase system based on partition chromatography was reported. The enzyme was dissolved in an aqueous phase retained by a hydrophilic support, cellulose. The immobilized enzymes were β -glucosidase and invertase catalysing hydrolysis of β -glucosides and sucrose, as well as transferring glycosyl groups to the mobile phase (alcohol). The system described was by no account inferior to many systems reported today.⁷

During the 60's and 70's several studies on two-liquid-phase systems appeared. Xanthine oxidase was used in non-polar media.^{8,9} For steroid conversion both enzyme/cofactor^{10,11} and whole cells (*Nocardia* sp.)¹² were utilized in combination with an organic solvent in order to increase the solubility of the substrates.

The importance of water was recognized at an early stage in biocatalysis in organic media, however **the appropriate amount** has been the object of numerous discussions and papers. Introduction of water activity, to correlate enzyme activity and content of water in biocatalysis in non-conventional media, has become accepted fairly recently. This, however, seems quite surprising considering that scientists in agriculture and food-technology have used the correlation between relative humidity (water activity) and enzymatic activity (deterioration of food) for almost 30 years.^{13,14} The lack of a contagious effect on scientists studying biocatalysis probably reflects the limited interaction between the two disciplines.

Despite some disagreement on certain aspects, the following advantages in using biocatalysis in organic solvents are now generally accepted:

- 1) Increased solubility of hydrophobic substrates and products.
- 2) Enhanced stability of biocatalyst.
- 3) Synthetic reactions being possible.
- 4) Reduction of unwanted side reactions caused by water.
- 5) Easier integration into other chemical steps.

8254

With the recognition of the above advantages there has recently been an exponential growth of interest in this field, as reflected by a parallel increase in review articles on this topic.¹⁵

For the organic chemist it is probably the reverse action of the hydrolases that is the most attractive feature of biotransformations in organic media, e.g. synthesis of esters, lactones, amides, peptides, etc. in a chemo-, regio- and enantioselective manner. This aspect, as well as biotransformations in general, has been extensively covered recently.¹⁶⁻¹⁸ This paper will only give a few examples of the most widespread biotransformations in organic solvents used by the organic chemist, namely reactions of hydrolases, otherwise the reader is referred to the references above.

Esterification/Hydrolysis

In ester synthesis an alcohol and a carboxylic acid are combined to form an ester and water catalysed by a hydrolase as shown in Scheme 1 (the genereal reaction is shown in 1a and a specific example in 1b). The opposite reaction, namely hydrolysis, is also often conducted in the presence of an organic solvent. With an immiscible solvent, a two phase system is created, which is beneficial to the lipases due to their interfacial activation. Addition of a miscible cosolvent is also quite common, however the amount is in this case more critical (Section 4).

Scheme 1 (Esterification)

1a $R^1COOH + R^2OH \implies R^1COOR^2 + H_2O$

^{1b}

$$R$$
 COOH + CH₃(CH₂)₂CH₂OH \implies R COOC₄H₉ + H₂O
X = Br, Cl, p-Cl-PhO (R)

Several enzyme preparations are available from commercial suppliers¹⁸ and new ones are regularly introduced to the market. The range of substrates (variation in \mathbb{R}^1 or \mathbb{R}^2) that has been successfully transformed in a chemo-, regio- or stereoselective way is very broad as can be verified by inspecting organic and bioorganic journals for the last 5-10 years. One example of this type of reaction is the kinetic resolution of racemic 2-halo carboxylic acids by esterification with 1-butanol in hexane and other organic solvents catalysed by lipase from *Candida rugosa* (Scheme 1b). This reaction afforded 95% ee for the (*R*)-ester at 42% conversion.¹⁹ It is commonly stated that due to the production of water this process has limited application as high yields can never be achieved.

However it should be noted that 90-100% product was obtained in an esterification in a two-liquidphase system consisting of 20% aqueous phase in hexane due to the extraction of the product into the non-polar phase.²⁰ This aspect is further discussed in the section considering the effect of water on the equilibrium position (Section 3.2).

Transesterification

In transesterification an ester and an acid, an alcohol, or another ester are combined. One possible way of dividing these reactions is into acidolysis, interesterification (Scheme 2) and alcoholysis (Scheme 3). Acidolysis and interesterification are often used in modification of triglycerides in order to obtain fat which resembles cocoa-butter (Scheme 2b).^{21,22}



R^{1,2,3,4}= alkyl R⁵ = H (acidolysis) R⁵ = alkyl (interesterification)

Alcoholysis (Scheme 3) is more frequently used by organic chemists when performing regio- and stereoselective biotransformations in organic solvents. Often no additional solvent is required as one of the substrates may also function as the reaction medium. In these reactions special acyldonors are often used to influence the reaction rate and/or the equilibrium position. Activated esters such as 2-haloethyl esters have been widely used.¹⁹ In the resolution of 6-heptene-2-ol using trifluoroethyl butanoate an optical yield of 93% at 40% conversion was obtained (Scheme 3b).²³ The activated esters increase the reaction rate although their effect on the equilibrium position is not necessarily favourable.

To manipulate the equilibrium position in order to maximize the yield, use of enol esters such as vinyl- or isopropenyl is popular. When the enols are liberated, they rapidly tautomerise to the corresponding volatile aldehyde or ketone. Besides the effect on the yield the reaction rate has

also been reported to increase.²⁴ In the reaction between 2-O-benzylglycerol and isopropenyl acetate catalysed by lipase from *Pseudomonas* sp., 96% ee for the (S)- ester was obtained at 72%



conversion (Scheme 3c).²⁴ A drawback is that some enzymes seem to be sensitive to the acetaldehyde formed. However, means to avoid this problem have been addressed.²⁵

The above examples are very few and the reader is referred to the previously cited reviews above for extensive examples. However, in order to draw full advantage of the potential of the field, biocatalysis in organic solvents, it is imperative to understand some of the basic features of these systems. It is the purpose of this paper to contribute to such an understanding.

2. GENERAL ASPECTS OF BIOCATALYSIS IN ORGANIC SOLVENTS

Most biocatalytic reactions in non-conventional media are <u>multiphase systems</u> with either an organic solvent, a gas or a supercritical fluid, in combination with an aqueous phase (Figure 1). The

biocatalyst will be confined to the aqueous phase. This phase can be of limited extent and sometimes only confined to the pores of the support material. Between the various phases are interfaces which can be of importance with respect to inactivation, mass-transfer and catalytic activity.²⁶



Figure 1

Two examples of multiphase systems with a) substantial aqueous phase b) aqueous phase confined to the pores of the biocatalyst

In these multiphase systems the distribution of species will normally be uneven between the different phases. To describe the amount of species in the various phases several approaches can be used. The use of concentrations is one way of treating this aspect. In a hexane/water-system it is clear that any polar species will have a high concentration in the aqueous phase and low concentration in the hexane phase, and vice versa for a very non-polar component. Any equation dealing with the total system will, in terms of biphasic concentrations, have a complex form and will vary with changes in the relative volume of the phases.²⁷

For many purposes it seems reasonable to replace the use of concentrations with the activities. The activity (a_i) for a component (i) is related to the mole fraction (x_i) and the activity coefficient (γ_i) through the following equation:

aj= xjγj

Using pure water as the standard state implies that in aqueous solution the water activity, as well as the activity coefficient, is nearly unity. In general the value of the activity coefficients may range from 10⁻⁴ to 10⁴.²⁸ A visual idea of water activity in organic solvents is that it indicates the intensity of interactions between water and solvent molecules.²⁹ A high interaction will be associated with low activity coefficients. Activities are, by definition, the same in all phases in equilibrium, assuming the same reference state is used. The partial vapour pressure can therefore

be used to calculate the activity for a component in the system, because in these systems ideal behaviour can be assumed in the gas phase.

Activity coefficients (and activities) can also be calculated from the partitioning (distribution) of a species between two liquid phases. Although in these phases non-ideality may be found, there exist data that make it possible to estimate the activity coefficients.³⁰ There are also models based on group contribution, such as UNIFAC³¹ and ASOG³², that make it possible to calculate the activity coefficients of the components in a liquid.

3. EFFECT OF WATER IN BIOCATALYSIS IN ORGANIC SOLVENTS

It has been shown that water is of special importance for biocatalytic reactions in non-conventional systems. A number of papers report reaction rate as a function of the amount of water added in biocatalytic reactions in non-conventional media.³³⁻⁴² etc. Recently, tritiated water was shown to be stripped from enzymes in organic solvents, the desorption appearing within a few minutes.⁴³ The following paragraphs discuss the effect of water on the biocatalyst, the hydrolytic equilibrium position and the kinetics.

3.1 Effect of Water on the Biocatalyst

Interactions between the enzyme molecules and the surrounding water are of crucial importance. Very often lowered reaction rate is caused by dehydration of the enzyme, however little is known about the process at the molecular level. It has been shown that the flexibility of the enzyme is related to the hydration state. Molecular events have been studied by gradual hydration of previously dried proteins. A stepwise hydration appeared with water first bound to charged and polar regions on the protein surface. Secondly, water condensed more generally and upon further addition of water, the mobility of the enzyme resembled that obtained in aqueous solution.⁴⁴

Zaks and Klibanov³⁹ examined three unrelated enzymes, polyphenol oxidase, alcohol dehydrogenase and alcohol oxidase, in solvents of different hydrophobicity and water content. They showed that the activity of the enzymes was related to the amount of water bound to the protein, and not to the concentration of water in the solvents. These results have been replotted in terms of water activity in the reaction mixtures, confirming that optimum enzyme activity is related to water activity, independent of the solvent used.⁴⁵ Goderies *et al.*⁴⁶ showed that the relative humidity (i.e. water activity) was important for the orientation of the reaction process and for the yield. Recently there has been a growing acceptance for using either controlled or measured water activity.⁴⁷⁻⁵³ The use of water activity as a means to describe the available water has been well known for many years in the food-industry.¹⁴

It is important to recognise that, even when optimum water content in terms of concentrations is achieved in a biocatalytic reaction, even <u>small</u> changes might change this optimum water content.⁵⁴ Some of the parameters that will influence this optimum are the solvent, reactants and support material:

<u>Solvent</u>

The solvent will compete with the biocatalyst for the water in the system and the ability of this is reflected in the solubility of water in the solvent. This aspect has been frequently reported.³⁹ The optimum water content in terms of water activity is, however, the same.

Reactants

When the nature or concentration of the reactants are changed, the requirements for water in the system will also change. An increase in concentration, or a change to a more polar component, will increase the water solubility in the bulk phase. This seems intuitively correct. However, if the changes in concentrations are conducted at the same water activity, a change in enzyme activity is not certain.⁴⁸ This aspect is probably reflected in the unchanged conversion rates, when increasing the substrate concentrations, in the presence of salt hydrates.⁵⁴ Salt hydrates may buffer water activity (see 3.4). The rate of transesterification of ethyl propionate catalysed by lipase from *Candida rugosa* was 48 times higher with nonanol than with heptanol in the case of dehydrated substrates, but only 2.2 times higher in the case of water saturated substrate, because of its ability to modify the water partitioning between the solid phase (enzyme preparation) and the liquid phase.

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{CH}_3(\mathsf{CH}_2)_7\mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OH} & \mathsf{k}_1 \\ \mathsf{substrates} & \mathsf{CH}_3(\mathsf{CH}_2)_5\mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OH} & \mathsf{k}_2 \\ \mathsf{H}_3\mathsf{CCH}_2\mathsf{CO}_2\mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{CH}_3 & + \\ \mathsf{water saturated} \\ \mathsf{substrates} & \mathsf{CH}_3(\mathsf{CH}_2)_7\mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OH} & \mathsf{k}_3 \\ \mathsf{CH}_3(\mathsf{CH}_2)_5\mathsf{CH}_2\mathsf{OH} & \mathsf{k}_4 \end{array}$$

Figure 2

Effect of using water-saturated substrates on reaction rate in transesterification reaction catalysed by lipase from *Candida rugosa* ⁴⁸

Support materials

Support materials,⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ buffer salts⁵⁰ and additives to commercial enzyme preparations, such as sugar alcohols,⁵⁸ have also been shown to compete for the available water in the system.

Commercially available enzyme preparations as well as "home-made" preparations may vary in hydration state from batch to batch due to inconsistent drying procedures. During storage, change in hydration state may result from leaking seals and frequent opening of the biocatalyst containers. This will, at constant temperature, lead to different water adsorption.

3.2 Effect of Water on the Hydrolytic Equilibrium

In any reaction where water can take part, the water activity will predict the mass action of water on the equilibrium. This means that in a two-liquid-phase system, where the water activity is nearly unity, the equilibrium position in the organic phase will not change when the aqueous phase is reduced in volume (e.g. from 50% to 1%), as long as the activity of water and other species remains the same. However, if the content of water is reduced further, so that the water activity is reduced substantially, then an effect on the equilibrium position might be observed. The latter effect must not be confused with the equilibrium shift observed in two-liquid-phase systems due to favoured partitioning of the product into the organic phase (see 4.3).

A relevant examle has been reported in the transesterification of triglycerides with 1,3-specific lipases, where hydrolysis yielding diglycerides appeared always to be present. This hydrolysis was entirely dependent on the water activity, and it was not possible to create a water activity where enzymatic activity still persisted and at the same time avoiding the parasitic reaction producing diglycerides.²⁹

3.3 Effect of Water on the Kinetics

Sometimes water may also affect the reaction rate by participating in the reaction, as well as through its effect on the hydration state of the biocatalyst.⁵⁹ Although unwanted, if water can take part in the reaction by e.g. attacking the acylenzyme in competition with another nucleophile (alcohol), it might be regarded as a competitive inhibitor. This has been reported in a chymotrypsin catalysed peptide reaction at known water activity.⁶⁰

If the water level is very high undesirable hydrolysis of the product might be pronounced. However, this cannot account for reduced rate in initial rate measurements, but it will be of importance after some product has been formed, at which stage there may be a decrease in the overall net reaction rate.²⁶

3.4 How to Control Water Activity (a_W)

There are several methods to set and control a fixed water activity in organic media and for further details the reader is referred to Ref. 61.

A common method for establishing a fixed water activity is by pre-equilibrating the biocatalyst, substrates, and solvent separately through vapour phase above saturated salt solutions (Figure 3a).⁴⁶ Different saturated salt solutions correspond to different water vapour pressures.⁶² A limitation of this method is that only the initial water activity is set. If water is produced or consumed during the reaction or exchanged with air through leaking seals, the water activity will change. Even changes in the composition of the mixture as the reaction proceeds might change the water activity.

Another method to set the water activity is by the direct addition of salt hydrates into the reaction mixture (Figure 3b). Control of water activity by adding salt hydrates has been described for chymotrypsin catalysed reaction in the presence of Na₂CO₃·10H₂O.⁶³ Later it was shown that salt hydrates were able to control water activity.⁶⁴ Studies on other enzymes, oxidase⁶⁵ and lipase,⁵⁴ have further confirmed the method. The background for using this method is discussed below.



Figure 3

Examples of how to control water activity; a) separate pre-equilibration of substrates/solvent and biocatalyst b) direct addition of salt hydrate to reaction mixture

Ideally the chemical potential or activity of a solid phase is independent of the amount present. Thus a characteristic water vapour pressure will be found in equilibrium with the mixture of two hydrate forms of the same salt. Lists of salt hydrate pairs corresponding to different water activity have been reported.⁶⁶ It should be noted that the water activity obtained from the salt hydrate does not correspond to the water activity from the saturated solution of the same salt. During a reaction

where water is produced or consumed, the water activity will be maintained because the higher salt hydrate can release water whilst the lower can take up water. This means, for example, that when changing the amount of catalyst, which will change the requirement for water in the system, simply adding enough salt hydrates will ensure a constant value of water activity. Furthermore, when changing the solvent or increasing the concentrations of reactants, there is no need for separate experiments for water optimization, simply adding a "fair lump" of salt hydrates will satisfy the water requirements.⁵⁴ The accurate amount of salt hydrates needed can, however, be calculated from a simple water budget.⁶⁶

Use of salt hydrates also provides a quick method to establish optimum water activity for an enzyme. This was performed for lipase P from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and Lipozyme.⁶⁷ The results were in accordance with earlier work.⁵²

3.5 Limitations to the Use of Salt Hydrates

There are some limitation to the use of salt hydrates:

- * The salt hydrate must not react with any of the substrates. In the reaction between butanoic acid and butanol the use of Na₂CO₃·10H₂O resulted in a reaction between the salt and the acid, thereby proving that this salt was inappropriate in this particular reaction.⁵⁴
- * Temperature effects must also be considered. The water activity for a pair of salt hydrates normally increases with increasing temperature. Several salt hydrates also have relatively low melting points, e.g. Na₂SO₄·10H₂O and Na₂CO₃·10H₂O both have a melting point at 32^oC. Above this temperature the salts will melt and form saturated salt solutions.
- * Some salt hydrates show non-ideal behaviour and the following are effects that can be observed.⁶⁶

1) vapour pressure (e.g. water activity) above some salt hydrates varies smoothly with water content,

2) significant effects of crystal size and/or shape can be observed,

3) metastable intermediate hydrates or crystal forms may exist,

- 4) final vapour pressure may depend on the direction from which it has been reached.
- * For certain salt hydrates, even when the final equilibrium of the vapour pressure is correct, the rate at which it is reached may be too slow for the rate scale of the enzyme reaction (e.g. $CaSO_4 \cdot 2H_2O$).⁵⁴

Despite these limitations, the use of salt hydrates to set and keep water activity is a very simple method and is regarded as a "real progress" in controlling the water activity.⁶⁸

4. EFFECT OF ORGANIC SOLVENTS IN BIOCATALYSIS IN ORGANIC SOLVENTS

4.1 General

It is now generally accepted that enzyme catalysis can be performed in two-liquid-phase systems as well as in mainly organic solvents. Some empirical rules have emerged, e.g. that the more hydrophobic solvents are best due to their lack of water stripping from the enzyme.

There have been difficulties in finding a general solvent parameter that can be correlated to the enzyme activity. Laane *et al.*⁶⁹ have discussed various parameters such as Hildebrand solubility parameter (δ), dielectric constant (ϵ), and logarithm of partition coefficient of the solvent between octanol and water (log *P*). They concluded that the best parameter relating enzyme activity to solvent nature was log *P* and this parameter has been widely used since. Reslow *et al.*⁷⁰ were in general agreement, but found some discrepancies. Furthermore they showed that the inclusion of water solubility helped in their correlations. Valivety *et al.*⁷¹ showed that the catalyst activity was best correlated as a function of both log *P* and either electron acceptance index or polarizability. Later no satisfactory correlation between the biocatalyst activity and log *P* was found.⁷² The above results indicate that there is probably no single parameter for solvent polarity that will predict the enzyme activity in organic media.

4.2 Effect of Organic Solvent on the Biocatalyst

It seems reasonable that changes in the biocatalytic system will only affect the biocatalyst when they occur in the molecular vicinity of the enzyme. When dissolving an organic solvent in water, "immiscible" solvents will form a two-liquid-phase system at varying concentrations according to their solubility in water. This means that the biocatalyst in these systems will not experience a solvent concentration exceeding the solubility of the solvent in the aqueous phase. However, in these two-liquid-phase systems the biocatalyst will be exposed to the interface which may be harmful to it.⁷³

For miscible solvents there is no limit to the solubility of solvent in the aqueous phase, and any concentration of solvent can be obtained in these systems. It has been shown that there is a threshold value of organic cosolvent addition where inactivation appears (Table 1).^{74,75} It has been demonstrated quantitatively that non-polar solvents are not sufficiently soluble in water to reach the inactivation threshold concentration.⁷⁶ On the other hand a small addition of the miscible solvent to an aqueous phase does not harm the biocatalyst, indeed it may even increase the

8265

activity.¹⁵ In an esterification of aromatic amino acids catalysed by α -chymotrypsin in acetonitrile or 1,4-dioxane, it was observed that a small addition of water, sufficient to hydrate the enzyme, was beneficial to the activity. However, too much buffer resulted in decreased activity. Furthermore, it was observed that it was not the dissolved enzyme, but the *suspended* enzyme, that catalysed the reaction.⁷⁷ L-2-haloacid dehydrogenase has also been shown to be stable in anhydrous DMSO, but inactivated in a mixture of DMSO and water.⁷⁸ The recognition that a dry organic solvent is not so harmful to the enzyme stability is not of recent date. About one century ago dried enzyme extracts were shown to be stable in dry alcohol as opposed to alcohol in the presence of water.² Contrarily the stability of subtilisin BPN' was shown to be higher in 50% DMF in water than in anhydrous DMF.⁷⁹ However in the last example the enzyme reaction was stirred, and it is possible that the stirring could have influenced the result in the case of anhydrous DMF.⁸⁰ With the exception of the last example, the above results correspond to the two peak yield reported in peptide synthesis in a mixture of acetonitrile and water.⁸¹ At low (about 10%) and high (more than 40%) water content the yield was high, however in between there was virtually no conversion.

Table 1

Effect of organic cosolvent (acetonitrile; trypsin and ethanol; α -chymotrypsin) addition on initial enzyme activity in miscible systems^{74,75}

Enzyme	cosolvent (vol%)	relative activity (%)
trypsin	0	100
	45	100
	50	40
	60	10
α-chymotrypsin	0	100
	30	100
	40	.20
	>45	<10

It is more or less generally accepted that enzymes are more thermo-stable in low water media than in aqueous solutions. This has been explained by enhanced rigidity and that the covalent processes involved in irreversible inactivation, such as deamidation, peptide hydrolysis and cystine decomposition, require water. These processes are extremely slow in low water media.⁸² Enhanced thermo-stability has been shown for porcine pancreas lipase,⁸³ ribonuclease, chymotrypsin and lysozyme⁸⁴ and tyrosinase.⁶⁵ For subtilisin BNP' in DMF the half-life depended very much on the pH from which the enzyme had been lyophilized.⁸⁵ For subtilisin Carlsberg the thermo-stability was less in ethanol with 4.8% water than in aqueous solution.⁸⁶ This result might be explained by the fact that subtilisin Carlsberg is soluble in high concentrations (up to 98%) of ethanol. Very often a decreased activity in organic solvents is due to the water stripping effect of the solvent. When the effect of the organic solvent on the biocatalyst is considered the water stripping effect should be allowed for (see 3.1).

Kasche *et al.*⁸⁷ suggest that solvent effects on the reaction rate in enzyme catalysis in one- or twoliquid-phase systems can be of either *direct* or *indirect* nature (Figure 4). By *indirect* effects are meant partitioning of reactants and products, shift of equilibrium and mass transfer in two-phase systems. The *direct* effects are due to binding of organic (hydrophobic) molecules to the enzyme. It has been suggested that the only way to analyze direct solvent effects on the biocatalyst is by using saturated amounts of solvent in the buffer (one-phase system) or adsorbed enzyme on a hydrophobic surface in a two-phase system. Otherwise indirect effects will confuse the result. The effect of miscible solvents (DMF/DMSO) on the kinetics (amidase, esterase activity), the overall conformation (through fluorescence measurement) and the structure of the active site (through electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy, EPR) of trypsin has been studied.⁸⁸ It appeared that exceeding 10 % addition of solvent caused minor changes in the structure of the active site indicated by EPR spectroscopy, and the result correlated with a decline in K_{cat} of the amidase activity. It has been shown that at low phosphate concentrations in buffer systems saturated with solvents, soluble chymotrypsin is less affected by a polar solvent such as ethyl acetate, than a more hydrophobic one such as chloroform.⁸⁹



Figure 4

Examples of solvent effects on enzyme catalysis in one- or two-liquid-phase systems.87

The solvent effect on the biocatalyst is not independent of the nature of the enzyme. A study of the thermo-stability of invertase, glucose isomerase, α -amylase and lysozyme in H₂O compared to D₂O has been performed. The first three showed increased half-life in the deuterated water,

however lysozyme was not affected by the change in solvent.⁹⁰ Barbas *et al.*⁹¹ reported that in the presence of a certain concentration of water-miscible organic solvent, the amidase activity of trypsin, chymotrypsin, papain and subtilisin was suppressed. However the esterase activity was not affected. These results may be partly explained in terms of K_m and partitioning.

4.3 Effect of Organic Solvent on the Equilibrium Position

The effect of the solvent on the equilibrium position of the biocatalytic reaction is independent of the biocatalyst present and should therefore be less complicated to predict. Estimations do not necessarily give a result that is obtainable within an acceptable amount of time, however they might be useful to avoid trying solvents that can never give a satisfactory yield.

For the reaction A+B \checkmark C+D the yield can be found from K_X, an equilibrium constant in terms of mole fractions. This equilibrium constant, K_X, is related to an activity based equilibrium constant, K_a, which is independent of the solvent used. K_a is related to the activities (a_i), the activity coefficients (γ_i) and the mole fractions (x_i) through the following equation:

$$K_{a} = \frac{a_{C} a_{D}}{a_{A} a_{B}} = \frac{\gamma_{C} \gamma_{D}}{\gamma_{A} \gamma_{B}} \times \frac{x_{C} x_{D}}{x_{A} x_{B}} = K_{\gamma} K_{x}$$

In dilute solutions the mole fractions (x_j) become proportional to the concentrations and (as there is the same number of moles of reactants and products) the equation above can be rearranged and written as:

$$K_{C} = \frac{1}{K_{\gamma}} K_{a} = \frac{\gamma_{A} \gamma_{B}}{\gamma_{C} \gamma_{D}} K_{a}$$

where K_c is the equilibrium constant in terms of molar concentrations. This equation shows that K_c varies with the activity coefficients. As these are functions of the interaction between the solute and the solvent, they will vary in different solvents. The activity coefficients can be calculated using the UNIFAC group contribution method.²⁸

It is also possible to estimate the change in solvent dependent equilibrium constants (K_{ci}) in terms of partition coefficients (P_i).²⁶ The equation relating this is:

$$K_{C1} = \frac{P_A P_B}{P_C P_D} K_{C2}$$

where the partition coefficients are defined for the concentrations in phase 2 divided by those in phase 1. The partition coefficients can be measured, calculated or found in the literature.³⁰

An effect on the equilibrium position in peptide synthesis by using organic solvents as cosolvents has been reported.⁹² Also in two-liquid-phase systems the equilibrium position is related to the reactants' partition coefficients.^{93,94} This is an important point, as it is commonly and incorrectly believed that enzyme synthesis can only be performed in pure organic solvents. A two-liquid-phase system has been used in the synthesis of butyl butanoate, octyl 2-bromopropanoate and ethyl 2-bromopropanoate. Especially in the transesterification reactions between ethanol and octyl 2-bromopropanoate to octanol and ethyl 2-bromopropanoate, and vice versa, the effect of partitioning on the yield of ester in the organic phase is clear (Table 2).⁹⁵ Eggers *et al.*⁹⁶ have discussed the equilibrium position in terms of partition coefficients as well as activities. The effect of changing the organic solvent in some esterification reactions has been calculated theoretically to be of nearly 4 orders of magnitude.⁹⁷ Experimentally, an increase in equilibrium constant by a factor of 10 in the esterification of *N*-acetyl phenylalanine with ethanol, when the polarity of the organic media decreased (from ethyl acetate to heptane), has been reported.⁷²

Table 2

Effect of partitioning on the yield of ester in a two-liquid-phase system consisting of 20 % aqueous phase in hexane 95

Reactants	Ester product (%)
$H_3C(CH_2)_2CO_2H + H_3C(CH_2)CH_2OH$	~90
H ₃ CCH(Br)CO ₂ (CH ₂) ₇ CH ₃ + CH ₃ CH ₂ OH	~15
H ₃ CCH(Br)CO ₂ CH ₂ CH ₃ + CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₆ CH ₂ OH	~75

4.4 Effect of Organic Solvent on the Kinetics

Effect on Michaelis constant (Km)

Generally there seems to be a change in K_m -values in both one- and two-liquid-phase systems in enzyme catalysis in organic media compared to an aqueous system. This change appears to be

related to the partitioning of the substrates. In a two-liquid-phase system the enzyme mainly experiences the substrate concentration in the aqueous phase, and the K_m (apparent) measured in the organic phase will be a function of the partitioning of the substrate between the two phases. This argument will be valid even if the aqueous phase decreases to a minimum, as well as in cosolvent systems. Several groups have reported changes in K_m-values that could be explained in terms of different partitioning of the substrates in the organic solvent. In the study of solvent effects on peroxidase catalysed conversion of phenolic substrates, the catalytic activity was reduced in organic solvents compared to water. This was manifested in increased K_m.⁹⁸ A 5000-fold increase of K_m in the fatty acid alcohol oxidase from *Candida tropicalis* was reported for the same substrate (dodecanol) when the reaction was carried out in octane compared to an aqueous system (Figure 5).⁹⁹ A decrease in K_m when changing from acetonitrile to toluene was reported in the papain-catalysed esterification of *N*-CBZ-glycine with methanol.³⁸ The results were explained in terms of better solubility of the substrate in hydrophilic solvents compared to hydrophobic ones. In the



Figure 5

Effect of organic solvent on K_m in oxidation of dodecanol catalysed by fatty acid alcohol oxidase from *Candida tropicalis*⁹⁹

esterification of *N*-acetyl phenylalanine with immobilized α -chymotrypsin, there was a trend in K_m value when changing from aqueous to organic media. Initially K_m increased, however, when the polarity of the media was further decreased, the opposite effect occurred, i.e. a decrease in K_m. The results were explained by the opposite partitioning of the substrate at the two extremes of the polarity scale.⁷² No change in K_m was obtained for aminoacylases from porcine kidney or *Aspergillus* sp. in the deacetylation of *N*-acetyl-valine.¹⁰⁰ Finally, in a study of immobilized laccase suspended in water/organic mixtures of different compositions (low-water system), K_m was shown to exhibit a steep rise when water content increased. The same work also contained useful warnings in terms of misinterpretations of experimental data.¹⁰¹

From the above examples it appears that partitioning cannot account for all observed results. The remainder may therefore be due to *direct* effects on the biocatalyst.

Effect on activity, specificity and inhibition

The effect of solvent on activity and specificity is less clear and various explanations have been suggested, as may be demonstrated by the following examples:

Solvent effects on horseradish peroxidase had little influence on the catalytic turnover, in contrast to K_m , although changes in enzyme structure were observed through fluorescence spectra.⁹⁸ In the esterification of butyl stearate with laurinol catalysed by porcine pancreas lipase, the activity was halved in dodecane compared to that in benzene. This was explained by limited diffusion of the substrate into the enzyme surface due to too high hydrophobicity of the substrate.¹⁰² In mushroom tyrosinase catalysed reaction the ratio of the partitioning of the product and substrate (P_D/P_S) was used to relate the organic solvent to the enzyme activity. This proved to be a better criterion than log P.65 In papain catalysed reactions under a variety of conditions, substrate specificity was little changed from that in aqueous media.³⁸ In another protease catalysed reaction, the esterification of N-protected amino acids with methanol in acetonitrile and ethyl acetate catalysed by α -chymotrypsin, small variations in V_{max} were obtained when comparing the effect of two solvents.¹⁰³ Gololobov et al.¹⁰⁴ suggest that different factors are responsible for the specificity of enzymes in water and in mainly organic media. In the α -chymotrypsin catalysed acyl transfer in water, the specificity (nucleophile reactivity of amino acid amides) is correlated with the substrate specificity. In organic solvent (acetonitrile/DMF, 4% water) the specificity correlates with the size of the amino acid side chain.

For an organic chemist the enantioselectivity of the enzyme is probably one of the most interesting features. Several groups have reported variations in enantioselectivity when changing the solvent, as illustrated by the following examples.

In comparing hydrolysis (in buffer) of 2-chloroethyl esters of *N*-acetyl-L-and D-amino acids with the transesterification of the same substrate with propanol in butyl ether, a striking enantioselectivity was obtained in water and not in organic solvent.¹⁰⁵ Loss of enantioselectivity was observed in both hydrophilic solvents (dioxane and THF) and highly non-polar solvents (cyclohexane) compared to toluene, in the esterification of 2-hydroxy acids with primary alcohols.¹⁰⁶ In a study of the transesterification of 1-phenylethanol and vinyl butanoate catalysed by subtilisin Carlsberg in various solvents, enantioselectivity could be correlated with the dipole moment and dielectric constant of the solvent.⁴⁹ However, no correlation between enantioselectivity and physico-chemical characteristics of the solvent, such as hydrophobicity or dielectric constant, was found in the transesterifications between trifluoroethyl butanoate and (+/-)-sulcatol and (+/-)-3-bromo-5-hydroxymethyl isoxazoline catalysed by lipase from *Pseudomonas* sp. and porcine pancreas lipase in various organic solvents.³⁶ The above examples demonstrate that no clear relationship between solvents and enantioselectivity has yet been identified.

The solvent can also act as a specific inhibitor⁷⁴ as well as having an effect on the inhibition constants. In the production of cyclodextrines catalysed by cyclodextrin glycosyltransferase (CGTase) from unliquified corn starch in the presence of organic solvents, the yield was augmented 40% by addition of 5% of tertiary butanol. The increase in yield seemed to be due to a decrease of product inhibition of CGTase by forming an inclusion complex with cyclodextrins.¹⁰⁷

5. CONCLUDING REMARKS

For the organic chemist enzyme catalysis in organic solvents has become an auxiliary tool in organic synthesis as discussed in the introduction. Results obtained are, however, sometimes inconsistent or negative. From the above examples it should be clear that there are many parameters that influence the observed results when performing enzyme reactions in organic solvents. The scientist often blames the catalyst, however the results may be due to small changes in the physico-chemical conditions of the reaction system. It is therefore essential to try to understand some of the basic features of these systems otherwise false conclusions may be drawn.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS - I am grateful to Professor Peter Halling, Strathclyde University for useful advice and discussions, to Dr Richard Verley for reading through the text conscientiously and to The Research Council of Norway for financial support.

REFERENCES

- 1. Noordervliet, P. F. Microbiol. Alim. Nutr. 1983, 1, 1-17.
- 2. Hill, A. C. J. Chem. Soc. 1898, 73, 634-658.
- 3. Kastle, J. H.; Loevenhart, A. S. Amer. Chem. J. 1900, 24, 491-525.
- 4. Bourquelot, E.; Bridel, M. Ann. de Chim. et de Phys. 1913, 29, 145-218.
- 5. Bridel, M. C.r.d. l'Acad. des Sciences 1921, 173, 501-504.
- 6. Hanahan, D. J. J. Biol. Chem. 1952, 195, 199-206.
- 7. Reese, E.; Mandels, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1958, 80, 4625-4627.
- 8. Dastoli, F. R.; Price, S. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1967, 118, 163-165.
- 9. Dastoli, F. R.; Price, S. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1967, 122, 289-291.
- 10. Cremonesi, P.; Carrea, G.; Sportoletti, G.; Antonini, E. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 1973, 159, 7-10.
- 11. Cremonesi, P.; Carrea, G.; Ferrara, L.; Antonini, E. Eur. J. Biochem. 1974, 44, 401-405.
- 12. Buckland, B. C.; Dunnill, P.; Lilly, M. D. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1975, 17, 815-826.
- 13. Acker, L.; Luck, E. Z. Lebensm. Untersuch. und Forsch. 1958, 108, 256-269.
- 14. Drapron, R. Ann. Technol. Agric. 1972, 21, 487-499.
- 15. Khmelnitsky, Y. L.; Levashov, A. V.; Klyachko, N. L.; Martinek, K. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **1988**, *10*, 710-724.
- 16. Faber, K. "Biotransformations in Organic Chemistry", Springer Verlag, 1992.
- 17. Santaniello, E.; Ferraboschi, P.; Grisenti, P.; Manzocchi, A. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 1071-1140.
- 18. Boland, W.; Frossl, C.; Lorentz, M. Synthesis 1991,1049-1072.
- 19. Kirchner, G.; Scollar, M. P.; Klibanov, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1985, 107, 7072-7076.

- 20. Hertzberg, S.; Kvittingen, L.; Anthonsen, T.; Skjåk-Bræk, G. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1992, 14, 42-47.
- 21. Macrae, A. R. J. Amer. Oil. Chem. Soc. 1983, 60, 243A-246A.
- 22. Bloomer, S.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. J. Amer. Oil. Chem. Soc. 1990, 67, 519-524.
- 23. Ramaswamy, S.; Oehlschlager, A. C.; Tetrahedron, 1991, 47, 1157-1162.
- Wang, Y.-F.; Lalonde, J. J.; Momongan, M.; Bergbreiter, D. E.; Wong, C. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 7200-7205.
- 25. Berger, B.; Faber, K. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1991, 1198-1200.
- 26. Halling, P. J. Enzyme Microb. Technol. in press.
- 27. Halling, P. J. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1984, 6, 513-516.
- Straathof, A. J. J.; Rakels, J. L. L.; Heijnen, J. J. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 137-144.
- 29. Muderhwa, J. M.; Pina, M.; Graille, J. Oleagineux 1988, 43, 427-432.
- 30. Leo, A.; Hansch, C.; Elkins, D. Chem. Rev. 1971, 71, 525-616.
- Fredenslund, A.; Gmehling, J.; Rasmussen, P. "Vapour-Liquid Equilibria using UNIFAC" Elsevier Science Publishers, 1977.
- Kojima, K.; Tochigi, K. Physical science data 3, "Prediction of vapor-liquid equilibria by the ASOG method" Kodansha Ltd. and Elsevier Scientific Publishing Ltd., 1979.
- 33. Blain, J. A.; Patterson, J. D. E.; Shaw, C. E.; Akhtar, M. W. Lipids 1976, 11, 553-560.
- Guinn, R. M.; Skerker, P. S.; Kavanaugh, P.; Clark, D. S. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 1991, 37, 303-308.
- 35. Dumont, T.; Barth, D.; Corbier, C.; Branlant, G.; Perrut, M. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1992**, *39*, 329-333.
- 36. Secundo, F.; Riva, S.; Carrea, G. Tetrahedron Asymmetry 1992, 3, 267-280.
- 37. Yamane, T. Biocatalysis 1988, 2, 1-9.
- 38. Stevenson, D. E.; Storer, A. C. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1991, 37, 519-527.
- 39. Zaks, A.; Klibanov, A. M. J. Biol. Chem. 1988, 263, 8017-8021.
- 40. Reslow, M.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 1988, 177, 313-318.
- 41. Kazandjian, R. Z.; Dordick, J. S.; Klibanov, A. M. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1986, 28, 417-421.
- 42. Kise, H.; Hayakawa, A.; Noritomi, H. J. Biotechnol. 1990, 14, 239-254.
- 43. Gorman, L. A. S.; Dordick, J. S. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1992, 39, 392-397.
- 44. Rupley, J. A.; Gratton, E.; Careri, G. TIBS 1983, 8, 18-22.
- 45. Halling, P. J. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1990, 1040, 225-228.
- Goderis, H. L.; Ampe, G.; Feyten, M. P.; Fouwe, B. L.; Guffens, W. M.; Van Cauwenbergh, S. M.; Tobback, P. P. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1987, 30, 258-266.
- 47. Kang, S. T.; Rhee, J. S. Biotechnol. Lett. 1988, 10, 341-346.
- 48. Goldberg, M.; Thomas, D.; Legoy, M.-D. Eur. J. Biochem. 1990, 190, 603-609.
- 49. Fitzpatrick, P. A.; Klibanov, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 3166-3171.
- 50. Adlercreutz, P. Eur. J. Biochem. 1991, 199, 609-614.
- 51. Ross, N. W.; Schneider, H. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1991, 13, 370-377.
- 52. Valivety, R. H.; Halling, P.J.; Pielow, A. D.; Macrae, A. R. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1992**, *1122*, 143-146.
- 53. Chahid, Z.; Montet, D.; Pina, M.; Graille, J. Biotechnol. Lett. 1992, 14, 281-284.
- 54. Kvittingen, L.; Sjursnes, B.; Anthonsen, T.; Halling, P.J. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 2793-2802.
- 55. Reslow, M.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. Eur. J. Biochem. 1988, 172, 573-578.
- De Castro, H. F.; Anderson, W. A.; Moo-Young, M.; Legge, R. L. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar. U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 475-482.
- 57. Wehtje, E.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1990, 36, 39-46.

- 58. Yamane, T.; Ichiryu, T.; Nagata, M.; Ueno, A.; Shimizu, S. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1990**, *36*, 1063-1069.
- 59. Yamane, T.; Kojima, Y.; Ichiryu, T.; Shimizu, S. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1988, 542, 282-29.
- 60. Clapes, P.; Valencia, G.; Adlercreutz, P. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1992, 14, 575-580
- Halling, P. J.; Valivety, R. H. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 3-21.
- 62. Greenspan, L. J. Res. Nat. Bur. St. Phys. Chem. 1977, 81A, 89-96.
- 63. Kuhl, P.; Posselt, S.; Jakubke, H. D. Pharmazie 1981, 36, 463-464.
- 64. Kuhl, P.; Halling, P. J. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1991, 1078, 326-328.
- Yang, Z.; Robb, D. A.; Halling, P. J. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 585-592.
- 66. Halling, P. J. Biotechnol. Techniques 1992, 6, 271-276.
- 67.Sjursnes, B.; Kvittingen, L.; Anthonsen, T.; Halling, P. J. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 451–457.
- von Stockar, U. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 201-206.
- 69. Laane, C.; Boeren, S.; Vos, K.; Veeger, C. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1987, 30, 81-87.
- 70. Reslow, M.; Adlercreutz, P.; Mattiasson, B. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 1987, 26, 1-6.
- 71. Valivety, R. H.; Johnston, G. A.; Suckling, C. J.; Halling, P.J. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1991**, 38, 1137-1143.
- 72. Wehtje, E. "Parameters Influencing Enzyme Activity in Organic Media", Doctoral Thesis, Lund University, 1992.
- Hocknull, M. D.; Lilly, M. D. In "Biocatalysis in Organic Media, 1986" (ed; Laane, C.; Tramper, J.; Lilly, M. D.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1986, p. 393-398.
- 74. Mozhaev, V. V.; Khmelnitsky, Y. L.; Sergeeva, M. V.; Belova, A. B.; Klyachko, N. L.; Levashov, A. V.; Martinek, K. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1989**, *184*, 597-602.
- 75. Khmelnitsky, Y. L.; Mozhaev, V. V.; Belova, A. B.; Sergeeva, M. V.; Martinek, K. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1991**, *198*, 31-41.
- Belova, A. B.; Mozhaev, V. V.; Levashov, A. V.; Shergeeva, M. V.; Martinek, K.; Khmel'nitskii, Y. L. *Biokhim.* (Eng.) **1991**, *56*, (11) 1357-1373.
- 77. Kise, H.; Shirato, H. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1988, 10, 582-585.
- 78. Hasan, A. K. M. Q.; Takada, H.; Esaki, N.; Soda, K. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1991**, *38*, 1114-1117.
- Wong, C.-H.; Chen, S.-T.; Hennen, W. J.; Bibbs, J. A.; Wang, Y.-F.; Liu, J. L.-C.; Pantoliano, M. W.; Whitlow, M.; Bryan, P. N. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1990**, *112*, 945-953.
- 80. Kvittingen, L.; Sjursnes, B.; Anthonsen, T.; Halling, P.J. Tetrahedron 1992, 48, 5259-5264.
- 81. Isowa, Y.; Kakutani, M.; Yaguchi, M. In "Peptide Chemistry" (ed; Shioiri, T.), Protein Research Foundation, Osaka, 1981, p. 25-30.
- 82. Gupta, M. N. Eur. J. Biochem. 1992, 203, 25-32.
- 83. Zaks, A.; Klibanov, A. M. Science 1984, 224, 1249-1251.
- Volkin, D. B.; Staubli, A.; Langer, R.; Klibanov, A. M. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1991, 37, 843-853.
- 85. Schulze, B.; Klibanov, A. M. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1991, 38, 1001-1006.
- 86. Kise, H. Bioorganic Chemistry 1990, 18, 107-115.
- 87. Kasche, V.; Michaelis, G.; Galunsky, B. Biotechnol. Lett. 1991, 13, 75-80.
- 88. Guinn, R. M.; Blanch, H. W.; Clark, D. S. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1991, 13, 320-326.
- Blanco, R. M.; Halling, P. J.; Bastida, A.; Cuesta, C.; Guisan, J. M. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **1992**, *39*, 75-84.

- Combes, D. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 45-52.
- 91. Barbas III, C. F.; Matos, J. R.; West, J. B.; Wong, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5162-5166.
- 92. Homandberg, G. A.; Mattis, J. A.; Laskowski, Jr., M. Biochemistry 1978, 17, 5220-5227.
- 93. Klibanov, A. M.; Samokhin, G. P.; Martinek, K.; Berezin, I. V. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 1977, 19, 1351-1361.
- 94. Martinek, K.; Semenov, A. N.; Berezin, I. V. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1981, 658, 76-89.
- 95. Hertzberg, S.; Kvittingen, L.; Anthonsen, T.; Skjåk-Bræk, G. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1990, 613, 511-515.
- 96. Eggers, D. K.; Blanch, H. W.; Prausnitz, J. M. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 1989, 11, 84-89
- 97. Halling, P. J. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1990, 35, 691-701.
- 98. Ryu, K.; Dordick, J. S. Biochemistry 1992, 31, 2588-2598.
- 99. Kemp, G. D.; Dickinson, F. M.; Ratledge, C. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 1991, 34, 441-445.
- Manjon, A.; Obon, J. M.; Canovas, M.; Iborra, J. L. In "Biocatalysis in Non-Conventional Media" (ed; Tramper, J.; Vermue, M. H.; Beeftink, H. H.; von Stockar, U.), Elsevier Science Publishers, 1992, p. 121-128.
- 101. van Erp, S. H. M.; Kamenskaya, E. O.; Khmelnitsky, Y. L. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **1991**, *202*, 379-384.
- 102. Cao, S. G.; Feng, Y.; Liu, Z. B.; Ding, Z. T.; Cheng, Y. H. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.* **1992**, 32, 7-13.
- 103. Clapes, P.; Adlercreutz, P. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1991, 1118, 70-76
- 104. Gololobov, M. Y.; Voyushina, T. L.; Stepanov, V. M.; Adlercreutz, P. FEBS Letters 1992, 307, 309-312.
- 105. Sakurai, T.; Margolin, A. L.; Russell, A. J.; Klibanov, A. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1988**, *110*, 7236-7237.
- 106. Parida, S.; Dordick, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 2253-2259.
- 107. Lee, Y.-D.; Kim, H.-S. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 1992, 39, 977-983.

(Received 2 June 1994)